

GOAL - Global Strategy Paper No. 4

March 21, 2012

Goldman Sachs Global Economics, Commodities and Strategy Research at **https://360.gs.com**

The Long Good Buy; the Case for Equities

- After more than a decade of de-rating, equities are implying unrealistically large declines in growth and returns into the future.
- While future growth may be lower than experienced over the past decade in many parts of the world, we believe this is more than reflected in current valuations.
- Future returns in equities are heavily influenced by valuation. The prospects for moderating risk premium raise the probability that equities will embark on a steady upward trajectory over the next few years.
- The ex-post equity risk premium has been strikingly poor in recent years. Annualized 10 and 20 year relative returns have been at their most negative for over a century.
- The prospects for future returns in equities relative to bonds are as good as they have been in a generation.

Goldman Sachs does and seeks to do business with companies covered in its research reports. As a result, investors should be aware that the firm may have a conflict of interest that could affect the objectivity of this report. Investors should consider this report as only a single factor in making their investment decision. For Reg AC certification and other important disclosures, see the Disclosure Appendix, or go to www.gs.com/research/ hedge.html. Analysts employed by non-US affiliates are not registered/qualified as research analysts with FINRA in the U.S.

Peter Oppenheimer +44 (20) 7552 5782 Peter.Oppenheimer@gs.com

Portfolio Strategy Research Goldman Sachs International Matthieu Walterspiler +44 (20) 75523403 Matthieu.Walterspiler@gs.com Portfolio Strategy Research Goldman Sachs International

Many thanks to Sharon Bell, Timothy Moe, Gerald Moser, Christian Mueller-Glissmann, Anders Nielsen and Kamakshya Trivedi for their helpful comments.

Contents

Summary: The Long Good Buy	3
1. Equities and the Great De-Rating	4
What comes around goes around	4
The demise of the ex-post ERP	7
The demise of growth expectations	8
The fall in duration value	9
1) The fall in the takeover recovery ratio	9
2) implied future growth has collapsed	9
3) The collapse in the dispersion of valuations	10
4) The fall in the value of equities relative to gold	11
5) The end of an affair	11
2. Valuation as a Driver of Returns	12
The importance of valuation in prospective returns	12
Valuations and returns, equities versus bonds	13
Valuation and returns, equities in absolute terms	15
The importance of losses in explaining prospective returns	16
Bonds, time to get real	16
What happens if bond yields rise?	17
Equity and bond correlations	18
The trade off between bond yields and ERP	19
Risk and volatility have not changed	19
3. Why Equities Offer an Opportunity Now	21
1. Lack of policy options	21
2. Deleveraging	23
3. The collapse in investment spending	24
4. Demographics	26
4. Expectations that ROE and Margins will Decline	28
The most important driver of ROE is margins	30
5. Risks of Stagnation; the Return of 'Fat & Flat'	35

Summary: The Long Good Buy

One of the most important trends in financial markets over the past decade has been the significant de rating of equities and their historically poor real returns. At the same time government bonds have seen valuations rise dramatically over the same period, generating record real returns. The ex-post risk premium has been strikingly poor with annualized 10 and 20 year relative returns between equities and bonds amongst their most negative for a century.

Many have argued that the structural forces at play have brought an end to the post war, golden era of equities. A combination of regulatory change, high volatility, lower inflation, demographics, deleveraging and fiscal austerity have conspired to dramatically reduce growth expectations and limit the demand for equities as an asset class. Given current valuations, we think its time to say a long good bye to bonds, and embrace the long good buy for equities as we expect them to embark on an upward trend over the next few years. This paper is split into five main parts:

- **1.** A description of the Great De-Rating of equities
- 2. An examination of valuation and returns as a driver of future performance
- **3.** Why equities offer an opportunity now; why growth expectations are too low
- 4. Prospects for ROE and margins
- 5. Risks of stagnation; the return of Fat & Flat

The fall in the ex-post equity risk premium (ERP) is a function of various drivers: The high valuations of equities in the late 1990s, followed by the gradual decline in growth expectations in developed economies, the deleveraging post the credit crunch and the Great Recession, which have raised the required ERP, pushing equity valuations lower. The sustained fall in bond yields started with the disinflation of the 1980s and 1990s. A cult of fixed income grew up in the wake of the Asian crisis, driven by EM countries with surplus savings. The move towards Asset Liability Management (ALM) in the fund management industry has further pushed large pools of DM capital towards fixed income.

Valuation matters for future returns. Periods following significant de ratings and low valuations tend to be followed by significantly higher returns. We find strong evidence that simple P/E ratios have an inverse relationship with real returns five-years forward, and these relationships are stronger for some other valuation metrics like the ERP. Relative measures of valuations across markets also provide strong indications of future returns. Unusually high dividend yields relative to bond yields, for example, are typically followed by outperformance of equities. **Higher bond yields may moderate the return in equities over time, but are unlikely to pose a major constraint in the initial stages of normalisation, and would not undermine the relative attractiveness of equities compared to bonds, in our view.**

Many arguments are put forward to justify lower growth expectations and, therefore, a continued high ERP. We discuss fears of a lack of policy options, the impact of de-leveraging on future growth, and the collapse in investment spending and demographics. While many fear that these, and other factors, will push down on the current high level of ROEs and margins, we think these risks are overstated. While margins may struggle to rise much from current levels, other factors (technology and compensation control) are likely to prevent margins falling, at least as much as current valuations imply. We look at what could go wrong. The onset of a sustained period of economic stagnation could result in a prolonged 'fat and flat' market—a wide trading range with little aggregate return. However, the risks to this seem to be fading and it is not clear that sub par growth will necessarily cap equity returns given current valuations.

The ex-post equity risk premium has collapsed as long-term growth expectations have fallen

3

1. Equities and the Great De-Rating

The last decade in particular has experienced one of the poorest aggregated return for equities and also, importantly, one of the biggest relative de-ratings in comparison to 'risk free' assets in many decades. This trend, which started after the collapse of the technology bubble and has been extended through the 'Great Recession', reflects a number of developments; in particular these include:

- 1. The overvaluation of equities at the outset
- 2. The downgrading of long-term growth expectations following the credit crunch and the Great Recession, reducing the value of long duration assets
- 3. The rise in the cult of fixed income in the aftermath of the Asian crisis as EM countries with surplus savings bought into US treasuries and other bond markets
- 4. Changes in regulations, and historical performance, fuelling the rise in demand for fixed income by pension funds and insurance companies. Most recently, the narrowing pool of government bonds still considered to be 'risk free', together with the onset of QE, have further boosted demand for some bonds.

What comes around goes around

In 1956, George Ross Goobey, the general manager of the Imperial Tobacco pension fund in the UK made a controversial speech to the Association of Superannuation and Pension Funds (ASPF) arguing the merits of investing in equities to generate inflation linked growth for pension funds. He became famous for allocating the entirety of the funds investments to equities, a move that is often associated with the start of the so-called 'cult of the equity'.

Prior to this, equities were largely seen as volatile assets that achieved lower risk adjusted returns than government bonds and, consequently, required a higher yield. As more institutions warmed to the idea of shifting funds into equities, partly as a hedge against inflation, the yield on equities declined and the so-called 'reverse yield gap' was born. This refers to the fall in dividend yields to below government bond yields; a pattern that has continued, in most developed economies, until recently.

In his speech to the ASPF, Ross Goobey talked about the long-run historical evidence that the ex-post equity risk premium was positive and that investors ignored this at their own peril.







Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research

The long-run performance of equities was much greater than for bonds having adjusted for inflation. As he said: 'I know that people will say: 'Well, things are never going to be the same again', but ... it has happened again, and again. I say to you that my views are that it is still going to happen yet again even though it may not be the steep rises which we have had in the past.'

Over the 50 years that followed Mr. Ross Goobey's pitch, his predictions proved very successful. The annualized real return to US equities (as a proxy) between 1956 and 2000 were 7.4%.

But things have changed since the start of this century and the collapse of equity markets following the bursting of the technology bubble. In this post bubble world valuations fell from unrealistically high levels. But the decline of equity markets continued well after most equity markets returned to more 'normal' valuations. The onset of the credit crunch, and the deleveraging of balance sheets in many developed economies that followed this have punctured the confidence that once surrounded equities, and the pre-1960s skepticism about equity returns has returned. Dividend yields are once again above bond yields and both historical, and expected future returns have collapsed.

Exhibit 3 shows the ex-post equity risk premium in the US achieved from different starting dates. Seen against the long-run history, the experience post 2000 has been dismal. Of course, this picture exaggerates the problems of the



Exhibit 3: Ex-post risk premium S&P 500 over US treasury

For nearly half a century bonds yielded more than equities

While equities have achieved

a strong premium for risk

over long periods, this has

not been true since the late

recent past given the varying duration of holding periods as one goes back over time. Even stocks bought in the late 1920s, for example, have managed to generate a reasonable long-run return, but they have had many decades to reverse the years of poor returns.

A more useful guide to the long-term patterns, and how they have changed over time, is to look at the returns over specific holding periods. Exhibit 4, for example, plots the returns to the US equity market over specific 10 year holding periods over time – 10 year forwards from each year. This shows that the last decade has been truly striking in an historical context. The last few years have seen the worst real returns in US equities (along with the 1970s) in over 100 years. Exhibit 5 shows equities bought and held over 20 year periods. On this basis, equities have not fared so badly relative to history.

But while equities have done better over the longer term holding periods, it is the real returns in the bond market that have been really remarkable compared to most periods in history (see Exhibits 6 and 7). Understandably, US treasuries bought in the early 1980s, at the peak of the inflation cycle, have annualized real returns of over 7% for 20 years. But even those bonds bought in the early 1990s have annualized real returns of around 5% for 20 years – the kinds of real returns that investors used to hope for in equities.

Exhibit 4: Annualized real total return of S&P 500 Rolling 10-year



Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.



Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 6: US Bond annualized real return

Exhibit 5: Annualized real total return of S&P500 Rolling 20-year

1990s



Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 7: US Bond annualized real return



Exhibit 8: Annualized excess return of S&P 500



Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 9: Annualized excess return of S&P 500



Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

The demise of the ex-post ERP

As a consequence of the moves described above, the persistent and aggressive collapse of the ex-post equity risk premium is one of the most striking developments in financial markets over the last couple of decades. As Exhibits 8 and 9 demonstrate, annualized excess returns in equities compared to government bonds have been the most negative over the past decade as in any period since the 1900s. This has also been true for assets bought as long ago as the late 1980s, but equities bought at the start of the 1990s are now starting to show positive, albeit historically low, relative returns.

Of course there have been many bear markets over the past century, but few have been as deep or prolonged as the one that started after the 2000 peak. Exhibit 10 compares the monthly performance of the US equity market in real terms from the beginning of the year in 1929 and 1999. The current cycle has mapped the 1929 pattern quite closely. The sharp dip in the current cycle at around 120 months after the peak represents the low in 2009 ; in relative terms a lower trough than an equivalent point 10 years after the 1929 collapse.

Perhaps even more remarkable is that the real return in US 10 year treasuries has been as strong as at similar points following the collapse in 1929. Given the deflation in the 1920s, this is quite striking, Indeed in nominal terms US bonds have risen far more than was the case following the 1929 collapse (see Exhibits 11 and 12).

Exhibit 10: US equity total real returns after January 1929/January 1999





Exhibit 12: US bond nominal returns after Jan 1929/Jan 1999







Source: Robert Shiller, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

The demise of growth expectations

While long periods of low returns in equity markets are not unique, the scale and duration of poor real returns in equities experienced since the start of this century is unusual in an historical context and the poor relative returns that equities have experienced over the past couple of decades has been exceptional.

The obvious question is why have returns been so poor? Does this reflect a cyclical problem that can be explained by the high valuations at the end of the 1990s, or is it a function of much more deep seeded and structural problems that are likely to reduce future returns?

There are several main factors that have contributed to the ongoing de-rating of equity markets over recent years and, indeed, the relative re-rating of government bonds.

- 1. The overvaluation of equities at the outset
- 2. The downgrading of long-term growth expectations following the credit crunch and the Great Recession, reducing the value of long-duration assets
- The rise in the cult of fixed income in the aftermath of the Asian crisis as EM countries with surplus savings bought into US treasuries and other bond markets
- 4. Changes in regulations, and historical performance, fuelling the rise in demand for fixed income by pension funds and insurance companies. Most recently, the narrowing pool of government bonds still considered to be 'risk free', together with the onset of QE, have further boosted demand for some bonds.

In absolute terms valuations of most equity markets have fallen sharply since their high levels a decade earlier, while at the same time, the value of 'risk free' assets – or at least the shrinking pool of those that are still considered to be risk free – have gone higher.

It is difficult to pinpoint precisely the drivers for this shift in relative valuation. Certainly equity valuations were unsustainably high at their peak in the late 1990s and bond valuations had not adequately priced in the extent of disinflation. But the ongoing de-rating in the last few years seems to go beyond these explanations.

The credit crunch has both raised the demand for risk-free assets while, at the same time, caused significant falls in bank lending as a combination of

Exhibit 13: Takeover recovery cost, Europe

The number of years it would take to acquire the equity market with retained cash flow



Source: Worldscope, I/B/E/S, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

household and bank sector deleveraging are taking their toll. The sharp rally in equity markets that followed the post Lehman trough was short-lived and coincided with sharp improvements in profitability so that the valuation recovery was fairly limited. Since then, the combination of fiscal austerity and European sovereign risks have added to the level of uncertainty, and kept the required risk premium higher than would be justified purely on the basis of the macro data alone. This is particularly evident in Europe where the required ERP embedded in our GS Dividend Discount Model (DDM)¹ remains higher than the levels that we can justify from our macro forecasts alone.

The fall in duration value

One way or another, these falls in valuation reflect a significant decline in future growth expectations, or at the very least, the confidence in them. In essence, the market has reduced the value of duration. The value that investors have prepared to put on cash flows further into the future has declined, driven by lower confidence and lower expectations for growth.

There are at least five ways that we can observe this fall in duration value:

1) The fall in the takeover recovery ratio

This is the ratio that calculates how many years of free cash flow at current levels would be required for the corporate sector to take over equity through the accumulation of cash flows through time. On our calculations, in Europe, this has fallen from a high of 221 years in 2000 to a just 17 years today (Exhibit 13).

2) Implied future growth has collapsed

The extent to which investors have reduced long-term real growth expectations can also be observed by re-arranging a Dividend Discount Model. To do this, we re-arrange the model to ask what future growth in earnings, in real terms, is implied by the market at each point in time, assuming that the ERP remained static. This has become most extreme in Europe, where future expectations have been most uncertain. As Exhibit 14 shows, on a 'normalised' long-run risk premium of 3.5%, this would appear to imply the market expects profits to fall in real terms every year for the next 20 years. Changing the level of the risk premium will mostly change where the line sits on the axis, rather than the shape – so even if it is unrealistic to assume that risk premia will fall back to

Investors have voted with their feet, shifting assets towards government bonds and away from equities





Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research

their previous long-run average over the next few years, and we use a higher number, the extent to which long-run growth expectations has fallen over the past decade is striking.

3) The collapse in the dispersion of valuations

The fall in duration value can also be observed within the market when looking at the dispersion of returns. Exhibit 15 shows the relationship between the cost of equity and the spread between the highest and lowest companies by P/E in the market. As the cost of equity rises (mainly driven by the ERP), the spread falls. Higher uncertainty simply reduces the willingness to pay a premium for cash flows further into the future. Growth stocks have been de-rated disproportionately relative to the market.²

Exhibit 15: Europe cost of equity and P/E multiple spread



Source: I/B/E/S, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

2. See Strategy Matters, The curious incident of the growth that (still) isn t valued, March 13, 2012).





Source: Robert Schiller, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

4) The fall in the value of equities relative to gold

Another way of thinking about the shift in duration value is to look at equities priced in gold. Since equities are long duration, and gold very short duration, the relative shift again tells us something about the level of uncertainty about future growth and inflation.

5) The end of an affair

Understandably, given these developments, investors have voted with their feet, shifting assets out of equities and into fixed income. In part this also reflects other factors; regulation and liability matching issues, exacerbated by the collapse in the discount rate and the long decline in inflation fears amongst investors. Nonetheless, part of it undoubtedly also reflects performance.

The aggregate pension and insurance company exposure to equities in Europe has roughly halved (from close to 30% at their peak in 2000), while fixed income has risen sharply. This trend has also been evident in the UK over the past decade (see Exhibits 17 and 18).

The starting valuation is crucial in driving future returns in the market



2005

2007

2009

2011

Exhibit 17: Eurozone pension funds and insurance companies asset allocation





Source: BoE, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

1999

2001

2003

Source: ECB. Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

2. Valuation as a Driver of Returns

While equities are, of course, risky – and long-term data shows the probability of making a loss over short-term holding periods is high, and that the starting point matters a great deal.

There are two important aspects to take into account when looking at the historical data:

- 1. The prospective return rises, and probability of loss falls, following periods when the starting valuation is low.
- 2. The prospective return rises and probability of loss falls following periods that have experienced prolonged losses already.

The importance of valuation in prospective returns

Most analysts and investors focus their attention, understandably, on 'fundamental' drivers of returns; what is the prospect for economic growth, profits growth, rates of returns on capital, margins and so on. The commonly held view is that these fundamental drivers are likely to deteriorate in the future as growth fades under the weight of fiscal austerity and deleveraging.

But in reality, the economic growth rate, and the return on capital, are not the only factors that can fully explain the returns to shareholders over specific periods of time. For example, the last decade was one of unusually strong economic and profit growth in most regions. Inflation was generally low and stable and in the US and Europe, profit shares of GDP and ROE rose to record highs. By contrast, these fundamentals were much poorer during the 1980s, but equity returns were much higher. How, then, can we explain this apparent paradox?

Much, in our view, can be explained by valuation. We find that extracting the markets implied equity risk premium best captures this point. While there is no perfect way of doing this, we base our ERP on a multi stage DDM, (GSDDM).

Exhibit 19 shows both the current estimated ERP as well as the 'predicted' ERP that we generate from an econometric model that relates historical required ERP with various macro variables (of which the output gap is a key part) which we then forecast to give us a sense of where the ERP may go in the future.

9 % 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0 -1 Dec-06 Dec-88 Dec-91 Dec-94 Dec-97 Dec-00 Dec-03 Dec-09 Dec-12 Market Implied ERF Macro benchmarked ERF

Exhibit 19: European market implied and macro benchmarked ERP

Valuation is one of the key drivers of both absolute and relative future returns

Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research



Exhibit 20: Equity/bond valuations have an impact on future relative (US)

Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

We know that, of course, when investors get more positive, their required rate of return – in effect the hurdle rate for taking on risk – falls. Twice over the past 25 years, investors have become so confident about the future that they drove valuations to levels which reduced the required risk premium close to zero. The first of these periods occurred around the collapse of communism in Europe when investors became confident about the future growth of capitalism. The second was during the technology bubble of the late 1990s, when new innovations were seen to be transformative to productivity and growth.

Arguably, the confidence of these two periods turned out to be justified in terms of the outcome for fundamentals. We entered the modern era of globalization, economic growth was highly successful, profit shares of GDP rose to record highs and so did rates of return on capital. The problem is that, at least following the second episode, the actual ex-post return for holders of risky assets was amongst the worst in modern history. The explanation to this conundrum, we think, lies in valuation. In effect, all of the good news was already reflected in asset prices before it had occurred.

Valuations and returns, equities versus bonds

The impact of valuation on future returns is evident when we compare valuations between equities and bonds on a relative basis as well as when we look at equities in an absolute sense. Starting with relative valuations, there are,



Exhibit 21: US correlation; Equity/bond valuation and five-year forward relative returns

Source: Robert Shiller, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.



Exhibit 22: UK five-year forward real equity return vs. gap between dividend yield and bond yield

of course, various ways of demonstrating the relative attractiveness. In Exhibit 20 we use the real yield gap in the US as a proxy (the difference between the dividend yield and the real bond yield). When we compare the progression of valuation together with the relative performance five years later we find a reasonable relationship. The main period where it broke down was in the mid 1990s. Equities were not particularly cheap at this time versus bonds but over the following five years they significantly outperformed bonds. This impact on valuation can also be seen in Exhibit 21 which shows the relationship over time. While valuation is clearly not the only factor driving relative returns, it is nonetheless significant.

We find similar relative equity and bond patterns in other markets too. For example, taking data for the UK from 1964, Exhibit 22 also shows the average five-year forward ex-post risk premium (equities versus bonds total return) against the gap between the dividend yield and real gilt yield.



Exhibit 23: Cyclically adjusted European P/E and equity real return

Valuation and returns, equities in absolute terms

Another way of showing the relationship between valuations and future returns is to look at the so called Shiller P/E (the P/E based on trailing 10-year average real EPS) and to compare this with the 10-year rolling return in the equity market that follows. In Exhibit 23, the 10-year real return for Europe is inverted in the chart and, as can be seen, suggests a significantly higher rolling real return as we move forward in time.

The extent to which valuations impact future returns is evident across all markets can be seen from recent work that our Asian strategists have done.³ They show that periods of lower P/Es have been associated with higher returns over longer-term periods. The range where we are currently has tended to be pretty good for markets. In these periods in the past returns have been 28% over a one-year holding period (with a standard deviation of 24%). Higher valuation ranges have been associated with similar volatility but falling returns over one, two, and in some cases five-year holding periods. What is also interesting (Exhibit 25) is that after 6-9 months, the average return differential between extreme high and low valuation periods widens significantly.

The important point here is that the fundamental drivers of profit growth, economic activity and return on equity are important components of returns but do not explain everything.

What is most important is how the market is pricing the expected future stream of cash flows. If prospective growth is strong, but expectations that preceded it were too high, then the returns will be low. Equally, if growth rates are low, but the market has assumed that the outcome will be even worse, then the returns can be high.

Exhibit 24: The link between valuations and returns has been strong and consistent for holding periods above six months Valuation deciles and subsequent returns

Starting Price/Earnings and Forward Return							
% of			Average	Returns			Std. dev.
obs	1-mo	3-mo	6-mo	1-yr	2-yr	5-yr	1-yr
1 %	(0)%	(2)%	24 %	76 %	100 %	NA	18 %
5	2 %	5 %	14 %	41 %	68 %	151 %	26 %
22	1 %	4 %	9 %	28 %	53 %	98 %	24 %
29	0 %	1 %	3 %	10 %	24 %	49 %	25 %
22	1 %	2 %	1 %	1 %	(5)%	9 %	23 %
14	(1)%	(3)%	(6)%	(18)%	(18)%	(8)%	25 %
4	3 %	6 %	6 %	(1)%	(19)%	15 %	36 %
1	2 %	12 %	11 %	6 %	(23)%	11 %	26 %
2	3 %	4 %	10 %	0 %	(25)%	(1)%	5 %
1	(4)%	(6)%	7 %	(3)%	(30)%	(8)%	3 %
	% of obs 1 % 5 29 22 14 4 1 2 14 1 2 14 1 2 1 2 1	Karting Price/ % of	Second	tarting Price/Earnings and % of obs Average 1 % (0)% (2)% 2 % 5 2 % 5 % 14 % 22 1 % 4 % 9 % 29 0 % 1 % 3 % 22 1 % 2 % 1 % 14 (1)% (3)% (6)% 4 3 % 6 % 6 % 1 2 % 12 % 11 % 2 3 % 4 % 10 % 1 (4)% (6)% 7 %	tarting Price/Earnings and Forwar % of obs Average Returns 1 % 0)% 6-mo 1-yr 1 % 0)% (2)% 24 % 76 % 5 2 % 5 % 14 % 41 % 22 1 % 4 % 9 % 28 % 29 0 % 1 % 3 % 10 % 22 1 % 2 % 1 % 1 % 14 (1)% (3)% (6)% (18)% 4 3 % 6 % 6 % (1)% 1 2 % 12 % 11 % 6 % 2 3 % 4 % 10 % 0 % 1 (4)% (6)% 7 % (3)%	Solution Solution	tarting Price/Earnings and Forward Return % of obs Average Returns 1mo 3-mo 6-mo 1-yr 2-yr 5-yr 1% (0)% (2)% 24 % 76 % 100 % NA 5 2% 5 % 14 % 41 % 68 % 151 % 22 1% 4 % 9 % 28 % 53 % 98 % 29 0 % 1 % 3 % 10 % (5)% 9 % 14 (1)% 2% 1 % 1 % (8)% 4 4 3 % 6 % (18)% (18)% (8)% 4 3 % 6 % (11)% 11 % 5 % 1 2 % 12 % 11 % 6 % (23)% 11 % 2 3 % 4 % 10 % 0 % (25)% (1)% 1 (4)% (6)% 7 % (30)% (8)%

Source: FactSet, I/B/E/S, MSCI, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 25: After 6-9 months, the average return differential between extreme high and low P/E valuation entry points widens significantly

MXAPJ: average return differentials for starting valuation Zscores (five-year rolling)



Source: FactSet, I/B/E/S, MSCI, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

The importance of losses in explaining prospective returns

Following on from the point about valuation, past returns do have an impact on future returns too. Periods of sustained falls in the market are typically better times to buy for the long run than periods when the market has risen over a sustained period of time – partly, of course, this is also a function of valuations typically improving after a period of sustained losses in the market. Nonetheless, the key point is that in particularly bad economic periods, once the news is fully priced, investment outcomes tend to improve. Exhibit 26 shows from US data back to the start of the 20^{th} century, that there have been only 17 years when the annualized real return has been negative.

The subsequent five-year annualized return was positive in all but one period, 1967, followed by the start of the high inflation of the 1970s, and in this case the annualized loss was around -0.2% in real terms. Of the 14 periods for which we have data, five experienced double digit annualized real returns.

We find that similar conclusions hold for other markets such as the UK and Germany, although data constraints restrict the comparisons over such long periods.

Bonds, time to get real

While the ERP is very high by historical standards, our measure of the risk premium in global government bonds is very low. To isolate a measure of the bond premium, our bond strategists make the assumption that bond yields in the US, Japan, Germany and the UK (the 'G-4') are roughly aligned with their respective one-year-ahead consensus expectations on growth, inflation and policy rates. They then identify the additional 'factor' that can explain the common variation in yields across these four markets, above and beyond cyclical fluctuations specific to each one of them. It is this factor that we refer to as the 'bond premium'.⁴

As Exhibit 27 shows, this premium of bonds relative to an intrinsic measure of 'fair value' based on inflation expectations and macro variables is very low by historical standards.

	Investment perio	d and real return	
Year invested	10y real return (annualized) from column 1	Date after 10 year period	5y real return (annualized) from column 3
1908	-0.2	1918	6.7
1909	-1.3	1919	7.4
1910	-2.8	1920	16.8
1911	-3.6	1921	19.9
1912	-0.5	1922	18.3
1929	-0.1	1939	2.1
1964	-1.2	1974	1.2
1965	-2.2	1975	2.6
1966	-0.4	1976	0.0
1967	-1.8	1977	-0.2
1968	-2.8	1978	7.2
1969	-2.4	1979	6.9
1971	-1.2	1981	14.0
1972	-2.9	1982	20.1
1998	0.0	2008	NA
1999	-4.1	2009	NA
2000	-2.7	2010	NA

Exhibit 26: Returns are strong post a long period of weakness (US)

Source: Robert Shiller Data, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

4. For a full explanation see Fixed Income Monthly July 2008, 'Sorry... no bond bubble'.

Exhibit 27: Global bond risk premium



Given the high ERP, therefore, the longer-term prospects for returns from current levels in equities have a higher than normal probability of being good by historical standards. The very low risk premium in government bonds suggests a higher probability of poor future returns relative to history.

What happens if bond yields rise?

The above relationships suggest that equities are attractively valued in both absolute and relative terms. However, the main argument against this is that equities only look attractive because bonds are overvalued, in our view, and their yields are unsustainably low. If bond yields were to rise, so the argument goes, then equities may outperform in relative space but wouldn't rise in absolute terms. We do not think this is necessarily the case for two reasons:

- First, the correlation between changes in bond yields and equity prices is not constant, but changes with different level of bond yields. Initial rises in bond yields are likely to be accompanied by higher growth expectations and, possibly by higher equity valuations.
- Second, rising bond yields are likely to be offset to some degree by lower required ERP.

The equity market can withstand the impact of higher bond yields in the early stages of bond normalization, in our view



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Equity and bond correlations

While the relationships above suggest that equities are cheap versus bonds, this argument could have been made at any time over the past couple of years. One of the problems with these relationships, some would argue, is that bond yields are 'artificially low' as a result of central bank policy and the traditional relationships between bond yields and equity prices have broken down. In many ways, the shift in these cross asset relationships is once again a reflection of falling growth expectations into the future. Exhibit 28 shows the rolling correlation between European equities and bond yields; the recent correlation at +65% was at a 40-year high before starting to moderate at the start of this year. A high positive correlation means that rising bond yields are seen as a good for equities whereas falling yields are seen as bad, implying deteriorating nominal growth and growing chances of deflation.

We've shown before that the relationship between bonds and equities is a dynamic one and depends not just on the direction of bond yields but on the level. The scatter plot shows that when yields are above 4%-5% correlation between equities and bond yields tends to be negative; equities underperform when yields rise as it's a signal of inflationary problems and it raises the discount rate for equities. But this relationship typically flips the other way when bond yields fall below 4%-5%; at these levels rising bond yields are positive for equities as it signals growth and moves you further away from the poor outcomes deflation can involve. Indeed the correlation between bond

Exhibit 29: The correlation is not independent from the level of bond yield



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research

GOAL – Global Strategy Paper

Exhibit 30: Stoxx 600, sensitivity to ERP and bond yield changes (current level 270)

Caulty Diale Dramium

										цину г		ennum
		2.5%	3.0%	3.5%	4.0%	4.5%	5.0%	5.5%	6.0%	6.5%	7.0%	7.5%
	1.0%	2541	1751	1305	1020	825	684	578	496	431	378	335
	1.5%	1751	1305	1020	825	684	578	496	431	378	335	300
	2.0%	1305	1020	825	684	578	496	431	378	335	300	270
e)	2.5%	1020	825	684	578	496	431	378	335	300	270	244
ъŧ	3.0%	825	684	578	496	431	378	335	300	270	244	223
8	3.5%	684	578	496	431	378	335	300	270	244	223	204
k-fi	4.0%	578	496	431	378	335	300	270	244	223	204	188
ris	4.5%	496	431	378	335	300	270	244	223	204	188	174
nal Nal	5.0%	431	378	335	300	270	244	223	204	188	174	161
mi	5.5%	378	335	300	270	244	223	204	188	174	161	150
ž	6.0%	335	300	270	244	223	204	188	174	161	150	140

Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

yields and equities has been high and positive in Japan since the mid 1990s. The current point on the scatter plot in Exhibit 29 is at the extreme top left. In a sense this is a reflection of how abnormal and fragile the current economic environment is seen to be. For this reason we would expect the early rises in bond yields to be positive for equity prices as they both become a reflection of rising growth and inflationary expectations, and could expect some equity re rating in the initial stages of rising yields.

The trade off between bond yields and ERP

The balance between a lower ERP and higher bond yields in determining equity prices is likely to be crucial over the next years. Exhibit 30 for Europe shows the 'fair market' levels of the bond market as we vary the level of 10-year bond yields and the ERP. The box at the top right shows the area around the current 'fair value' Bund yields, as implied by our bond strategists' 'Sudoku' fair value bond model, and the current implied ERP. The lower box shows the area around a long-term 'normalized' level of bond yields and ERP. **Even if bond yields were to rise to 5%, and the required ERP were to normalize to its long-run average of 3.5%, the fair value on the SXXP would be 378, 40% above the current level.**

Risk and volatility have not changed

While valuations and starting point are important in determining future returns, investors often raise concerns about volatility of returns. In particular people often point to the risk of losing money over short periods in equities and the rising volatility of returns over time. Certainly, equities are not for the faint



Exhibit 31: Probability of investment being at a loss at the end of the investment horizon

Exhibit 32: European equity volatility over time (2m realised)



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 33: European relative equity/bond volatility ratio

GOAL – Global Strategy Paper



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

hearted. Recent volatility has been very elevated, of course, and returns have been poor. But it is important not to lose sight of the fact that the risks of losing money has been high over anything other than fairly long-term holding periods in equity markets – this hasn't really changed. As Exhibit 31 shows, taking data since 1973, the probability of showing a loss on an equity index purchase has been close to 40% over a one-year holding period, only falling to a little less than a quarter over a three-year period.⁵

Investors are right to focus on this, and it is a good reason why it is important to view equities as a longer-term investment opportunity. But the case for holding equities as a longer-term investment should not have changed dramatically on the basis of loss profile alone. What about volatility?

Certainly equity volatility rose sharply around the start of the credit crisis and has remained higher than average ever since, (although has started to fall again recently, see Exhibit 32). But even in the period of heightened equity volatility, this was also true in other asset classes. Indeed, as Exhibit 33 shows, the ratio of equity to bond volatility has not trended upwards over the recent past and is not particularly unusual. Also the rise in equity volatility was largely a function of the rise in correlation which we have found to be heavily influenced by the ERP. If the ERP trends down over time, so would correlation and, hence volatility.



Exhibit 34: Correlations have increased alongside the ERP, which remains elevated STOXX Europe 600 12-month correlation vs. European equity risk premium

5. See GOAL Global Strategy Paper No. 1: Measuring risks: valuation vs. volatility Part 1, October 17, 2011.)

3.Why Equities Offer an Opportunity Now

Ultimately if valuations are a key driver to future returns, the questions is whether the expectations embedded in current valuations are reasonable or not? While risks abound, and future earnings may be weaker than experienced over the past decade, there are growing reasons to believe they may not be as bad as markets are pricing. In this section we discuss several of the main factors that investors often point to as drivers of low returns, and explain why they are unlikely to be as bad as current prices imply. There are several arguments that encapsulate the skepticism that investors have of future returns:

1. Lack of policy options available to support growth

2. Deleveraging leading to lower growth - the Japan story

3. The collapse in investment spending leading to lower future growth

4. Demographics: Ageing populations will reduce long-term demand

Each of these have led to expectations that ROE and margins will decline given that they are currently at historically high levels. We discuss ROE and margin risks in section 4, on page 28.

1. Lack of policy options

Many investors voice concern that the nature of the global economy has changed because of the lack of available tools to stimulate growth. With interest rates at the 'zero-bound' in the US, UK, Japan and Europe (at least close to it), and even flat or negative real interest rates at the long end of yield curves, there is little room left, at least in a conventional sense, to stimulate demand. The same could be said of fiscal policy. With risk transferred to the government sector and huge levels of debt, growth is likely to be weaker, all else equal. Our economists have argued that these effects are very real, particularly in a large closed economy like the US.⁶

As Exhibits 35 show, a 1% fiscal adjustment is likely to have a reasonable drag on growth over a 2 -3 year period.

Policy constraints combined with deleveraging are expected to reduce the longterm growth rates available in economies. Generally the impact of fiscal tightening, all things equal, is likely to be more significant in countries without





Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research

6. Global Economics Paper 207 The Speed Limit of Fiscal Consolidation, August 19, 2011.

The are several reasons why future growth may be lower, but some of the risks are exaggerated, in our view

Exhibit 36: Monetary policy has been aggressive



Source: ECB, BoE, Fed, BoJ, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research

flexible exchange rates. This would suggest the prognosis is less favourable for some of the economies that are going through rapid austerity measures in the Euro zone (with fixed exchange rates) and also in the US, (whose economy is very large and relatively closed).

While the fiscal tightening argument is relevant when considering why future economic growth may be sub-trend for some time. There are two counterbalancing factors that need to be accounted for:

- Not all countries are tightening fiscal policy together. Indeed, many emerging economies have strong fiscal balances and foreign exchange reserves and have scope to ease fiscal policy and encourage the growth of credit in the household sector.
- While fiscal policy is being tightened in many developed economies, monetary policy is still being loosened. Central banks have been proactive in accelerating non-conventional monetary easing and expanding the size of their balance sheets (see Exhibit 36).

Monetary easing has accelerated again since the start of this year. The Feds pre commitment to low rates for the next three years, further asset purchases in Japan, the LTRO in Europe, and cuts in interest rates in a number of emerging economies, have all loosened policy. In addition further declines in the dollar and strength in equity prices have further eased financial conditions to record lows (see Exhibit 37).

Not all countries are tightening fiscal policy together. Many EM countries provide an offset to DM



Exhibit 37: US and EU Financial Condition Index

Exhibit 38: Current recovery in Europe tracking below average cycle



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

2. Deleveraging

The credit crisis has accelerated the deleveraging of many economies, particularly in the developed world. The history of post 'financial' led crises would suggest that adjustments can take a long period of time. Excess capital needs to be worked off and savings need to rebuild. As consumers are the biggest part of most economies (particularly the US), then ongoing deleveraging, at a time of government budget constraint, is likely to lead to economic activity growing below trend.

But, as with the issue of policy tightening, this is not true globally.

- While deleveraging has led to a deflationary bias in the developed world (owing to excess capacity, particularly in the US), there are few signs of excess capacity in the EM world. Arguably the opposite is the case. As Exhibit 39 shows, most EM countries do not have significant output gaps.
- The speed of deleveraging has been rapid.

There are some encouraging signs about the speed of the adjustments of balance sheets – at least in the private sector. Furthermore, corporate balance sheets are in good health in the US and Europe, as well as much of Asia as Exhibits 41-44 show.





Not all countries are deleveraging together. Again, many EM countries provide an offset to DM

Exhibit 40: Personal Saving Rate (%)

Personal Saving Rate as a percentage of disposable income



Source: Bureau of economic analysis, Haver Analytics.

Exhibit 41: Corporate balance sheets have recovered since the crisis

De-seasonalized median total liabilities as a percentage of total assets for non-financial firms



Source: Goldman Sachs Credit Strategy, Compustat, CapIQ.

Exhibit 42: US interest coverage ratio has substantially improved



Source: Goldman Sachs Credit Strategy, Compustat.

3. The collapse in investment spending

While the strength of corporate balance sheets is reassuring at one level, many point to this as a potential weakness. This argument is based on the idea that balance sheets are strong simply because companies are hording cash due to their lack of confidence, attractive investment opportunities, or both. The scarcity of investment spending, some argue, has made equities more 'bond – like', requiring a higher yield to compensate for their lower prospective growth and higher risk.

The fall in investment spending has impacted future expectations. Exhibit 45 shows that nearly one-third of companies in Europe are expected to cut capex spend over the next year according to analysts.

Part of this collapse in investment spending is precautionary. The deleveraging of banks balance sheets has reduced the amount of money being lent by the financial sector and, consequently, the more the corporate sector has to self help. Many companies want to keep higher levels of cash in order to cushion against the risks of a working capital squeeze if there is another downturn. The corporate sector has unusually strong balance sheets Exhibit 43: Leverage – most commonly measured as the debt-to-EBITDA ratio - has fully reverted back to pre-crisis lows in the US while only half-way in the Eurozone De-seasonalized median total debt to EBITDA ratio for non-financial firms



Exhibit 44: Corporates continues to hold a higher percentage of cash on their balance sheet

De-seasonalized median cash as percentage of assets for nonfinancial firms



Source: Goldman Sachs Credit Strategy, Compustat, CapIQ.

Source: Goldman Sachs Credit Strategy, Compustat, CapIQ

However, theoretically many companies should be in a position to increase investment. There are two reasons to believe that investment spending is likely to increase.

Assets have aged and the ratio of inventories to sales has fallen to record lows in many industries. There is a good deal of pent up demand for capital spending that might be unleashed. As Exhibit 46 shows, the ratio of retail inventories to sales in the US has fallen to record lows. In part this reflects the advent of technology and better logistics experienced since the mid 1990s. But, as with many other industries, it may also reflect the fear of holding stock following the working capital problems endured during the post Lehman collapse.

In Europe, the asset base is particularly old, at over 8.6 years, again indicating that managements are sitting on the sidelines across a wide range of industries.

A growing proportion of investment spending is in growth economies – a factor that might enhance future returns (see Exhibit 48).



Exhibit 45: European analysts capex growth expectations for 2012



Exhibit 47: US residential investment to GDP











Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 49: Average age of assets at record highs



Source: Goldman Sachs Research estimates.

4. Demographics

The developed economies are, generally, experiencing ageing populations -Europe and Japan more than the US. Some, of course, are worse than others, but the general trend is very similar. In the US, the baby boomer generation (born between 1946 and 1964) is vitally important in driving the economy and demand for assets. There are several recent studies attributing the strong equity market of the 1980s and 1990s to the demand from baby boomers. Some of these, based on models, suggest that there is likely to be a negative path for equity prices as investors reduce holdings as a result of their age cohort. Is this an adequate explanation of falling demand for equities over time? We think not for the following reasons:

1) While populations are ageing in the developed economies, they are not on a global basis at the 25 to 59 cohort, the important one for saving (see Exhibits 50 and 51). Many of the populations in the faster growing emerging economies are still increasing and, with rising disposable incomes, they might reasonably be expected to increase demand for financial assets over time. If capital accounts open, some of this demand may flow into branded quality companies in developed markets as investors seek to increase their diversification. Of

Exhibit 50: Distribution of world population by age cohort (in %)



Exhibit 51: Global size of age cohorts

(in Bn)



Source: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division (2011)



course, this may be offset to some extent by the 'home bias' of investing, but given that many of the home markets in growing populations have limited liquidity, this may not be so much of a constraint.

2) Baby boomers may want income, but ongoing low rates – and even negative real rates – may push them up the risk curve into corporate bonds and even higher yielding equities. There may also be a tendency for baby boomers to hold riskier assets for longer in order to generate capital for future generations.

3) Markets are arguably efficient and, given that the demographic profile is easy to forecast, they should have adjusted to reflect this already, to some extent. At any rate, the past 20 years have been positive for the demographics of investment in many economies but this has not stopped markets from performing badly.

4) Companies are flush with cash. Given the higher cost of equity than debt, many may decide to buy back equity to enhance the efficiency of their balance sheets. This could act as a counterbalance to any reduced demand from baby boomers.

All in all, we do not see demographic issues as sufficiently strong to provide a major headwind to equity markets given the current valuations.

4. Expectations that ROE and Margins will Decline

In addition to the concerns about fiscal tightening and deleveraging, there are broader worries also about the prospects for longer-term profit growth. Many argue that the rise in ROE in recent years, is coming to an end.

Hardly surprising, therefore, is that the markets' P/B ratio, for example, is broadly consistent with a decline in the ROE over time (see Exhibit 54).

Another way to calibrate the forward expectations that current prices imply for ROE is to generate a sensitivity model as in Exhibit 55, based on the Stoxx 600 index in Europe. This allows us to see what level the market should trade at today as we change assumptions about ROE and earnings growth. To begin with we assume in the calculations a required ERP of 5%. Of course this is somewhat arbitrary, but it is lower than the current implied ERP of 7.3%, and well above the long-run average of c.3.5%. The current ROE is around 13% in Europe having peaked at around 17% in 2007. Meanwhile, the long-run average growth rate in earnings in real terms has been about 4% in Europe (2.9% in the US).

Exhibit 52: European ROE





US non-financials RoE



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.



Exhibit 54: Price-to-book ratio and ROE over time Europe

Exhibit 55: Fair-value sensitivity for STOXX 600

Fair value using a 5% ERP

_									Real	Long i	enne	nowin
		0.0%	0.5%	1.0%	1.5%	2.0%	2.5%	3.0%	3.5%	4.0%	4.5%	5.0%
	8.5%	200	213	226	240	255	272	290	309	329	352	375
	9.5%	222	236	250	266	284	302	322	343	367	391	418
\simeq	10.5%	245	260	276	294	313	334	356	380	406	433	463
pue	11.5%	267	284	302	322	343	366	390	416	445	475	508
(tr	12.5%	288	306	326	347	370	395	421	450	481	514	550
Ξţ	13.5%	310	330	351	374	399	426	455	486	519	555	594
<u>n</u>	14.5%	332	353	376	401	428	457	488	521	557	596	637
ш с	15.5%	354	377	402	428	457	488	521	557	596	637	682
о ц	16.5%	377	401	428	456	487	520	555	594	635	679	727
itur	17.5%	399	425	453	484	516	552	590	630	674	722	773
ъ	18.5%	423	451	480	513	547	585	625	669	715	766	820

Deal Lang Tarm Crouth

Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

If investors believed that the current rate of return on equity could be sustained over the next 20 years, even assuming long-term real earnings growth were to fall to 2.5% (rather than the historical average of 4%), then the market would be currently trading at around 420, around 55% higher than it is today!

Put another way, for us to justify the current market price in Europe, investors must be expecting a collapse in the ROE to around 8.5%, with an annual real growth rate of just around 1% for 20 years.

But is the fear of collapsing ROE fair? Some argue that this will be driven by higher taxation or a fall in leverage. But these do not seem to be sufficient factors to drive ROE in a meaningful way. Indeed, the rise in ROE is even more remarkable given that both asset turnover and financial leverage have actually been falling in recent years (see Exhibits 56-57).

The trend lower in asset turn has largely been a function of lower inflation. This doesn't look likely to change any time soon.

Despite the financial leverage boom of the 2000s, the overall level of financial leverage on the corporate sector balance sheet is actually fairly low relative to history.





Exhibit 58: Financial leverage in European companies



Exhibit 59: Financial leverage in US companies

Excluding Financials



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

The most important driver of ROE is margins

The secular rise in margins over the past decade can be largely attributed to a combination of technological advances and globalization – both helped to reduce costs. The marginal return from investment, it is argued, is falling while the disinflationary impact of cheap labour in many emerging markets (that also helped to boost profit margins) is reversing.

Even in the downturn post-2008, margins held up relatively well compared with other downturns – largely a reflection of the rapid cost cutting in the corporate sector. Since then margins have climbed back impressively and are now approaching their previous highs in Europe and have actually exceeded previous highs in the US. We have written extensively about margin prospects.⁷ Structural factors have been a major factor behind the secular improvements over time. In particular, the combination of intense technological innovation and globalization has been instrumental. While concerns over margins are understandable, after all they cannot rise forever, it is by no means obvious that margins will fall meaningfully, at least in aggregate.



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 61: Profit margin in US companies Excluding Financials



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.





Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

As Exhibit 62 shows, the long-run data in the US demonstrates that the rise in the profit share of GDP is largely a function of a secular fall in the labour share. With high unemployment and further substitution of technology for labour, it is unlikely that this will change dramatically any time soon.

Indeed, our US economists have modeled margins based on various factors, of which labour costs are the most important. Their models imply that real wage growth is lower at higher levels of slack in the labor market. Right now, they predict slightly *negative* real wage growth, which would mean that any productivity gain falls directly to the bottom line. While productivity has been a bit disappointing recently, our economists still expect it to grow at a rate of $1\frac{1}{4}$ - $1\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2012-13. These projections would translate into a further decline in labor's share, and a corresponding increase in domestic non-financial margins.

The productivity uplift from the capital deepening can be seen in the ratio of sales per employee (Exhibit 63) and the fall in staff costs to sales for European companies (Exhibit 64).

Another important contributor to higher margins has come from technology. The boost in margins from technology is both direct, through lower labour costs, but also indirect since technology is making up a higher share of the index in many cases. As Exhibit 65 shows, this is particularly relevant in the US where technology makes up around 15% of the index and where margins have risen very sharply relative to history.







Source: Datastream, Worldscope, Goldman Sachs ECS Research.

Exhibit 65: Information technology margins reach record highs S&P 500



Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research estimates.

On the basis of margins alone, therefore, we find it hard to believe that ROE is going to collapse to the low levels that, say, Japan has experienced over the past couple of decades.

If margins are the key driver to ROE, what are the downside risks? Many investors argue that they expect margins to decline, but rarely is there agreement over how much. While this may be a difficult question to answer, it is at least instructive. As with our analysis for ROE, we can also look at a simple sensitivity analysis to back out what the market price is implying.

In Exhibit 66 we show both the current net profit margin in Europe and the market implied margin on the assumption that the ERP is at its long-run average of 3.5% and long-run sales growth is 2.5% per annum real, plus 12-month forward inflation expectations. This would suggest that on any normalized risk environment, the market is expecting margins to fall by over 400 bp from current levels.

Of course, this may be unrealistic as investor sentiment currently is not 'normal'. Calculating this in reverse, in Exhibit 68, we find that a risk premium of 8%-8.5% is required to maintain the current margin, on an assumption of long-term real growth of 2.5%. We think that this risk premium is unrealistically high.

In reality, the market is probably implying a higher risk premium than the longrun average, AND a lower long-run trend growth rate. Exhibit 69 is based on a

Exhibit 66: European net profit margin and implied net profit margin



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 67: Implied change in net profit margin (STOXX 600)



Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

long-run ERP of 5.5% (lower than the current ERP and significantly higher than the long-run average). The table allows us to combine the risk premia with different long-run growth rates to see what implied shift in margins is likely.

With real long-run growth of 1%, for example, and an ERP of 5.5%, the implied fall in margins over the next 10 years is 220 bp. This would push it down to slightly below its 10-year average.

As with the analysis on ROE, therefore, many would argue that this is very plausible. But, as with all of this analysis, the real swing factor is what happens

ERP (%)	Margin in 2022 (%)	Implied change in margin (Bp)
3.5	1.8	-416
4.0	2.1	-384
4.5	2.5	-349
5.0	2.9	-312
5.5	3.2	-272
6.0	3.7	-230
6.5	4.1	-185
7.0	4.6	-137
7.5	5.1	-85
8.0	5.7	-30
8.5	6.2	28
	ERP (%) 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5 6.0 6.5 7.0 7.5 8.0 8.5	ERP (%)Margin in 2022 (%)3.51.84.02.14.52.55.02.95.53.26.03.76.54.17.04.67.55.18.05.78.56.2

Exhibit 68: Implied change in margins in current prices assuming different ERPs (STOXX 600)

Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Exhibit 69: Stress testing margin assumptions (STOXX 600)

Stressing both sales and	the ERP		
Real sales growth (%)	ERP (%)	Margin in 2022 (%)	Implied change in margin (Bp)
2.5	5.5	3.2	-272
2.0	5.5	3.4	-256
1.5	5.5	3.6	-239
1.0	5.5	3.8	-221
0.5	5.5	4.0	-202
0.0	5.5	4.2	-181
-0.5	5.5	4.4	-160
-1.0	5.5	4.6	-137

Source: Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

to the ERP? Is 5.5% the right number over the very long run, or is this too high?

On balance, it appears that the markets are placing a high probability of a sustained period of fading returns and sub trend real profit growth, akin to the outcome that Japan experienced through its 'lost decades'. In our view this is too negative and leaves room for some upside over the next few years as risk premia moderate to some degree.

What if we are wrong and growth does not recover? The structural headwinds to growth may create a prolonged economic stagnation, similar

5. Risks of Stagnation; the Return of 'Fat & Flat'

to the one experienced in Japan for much of the past 20 years. The concern is that a long economic stagnation, reflecting the forces of on-going deleveraging and fiscal austerity, will cap future returns in equities.

While equities have performed poorly over a prolonged period, many investors worry that we might be in for a further period of stagnation over the next several years as lower growth caps future returns and deflation limits the returns of nominal assets. This kind of fat and flat return (the name we give to long-term stagnations in the market where the trading range is wide, but aggregate returns flat), has occurred in the past. One such period was in the UK market from the early 20th century through to the end of the First World War as political turnoil and a collapse in worldwide trade reduced returns on capital. There was also, of course, the Japanese equity market following the bubble of the late 1980s.

In general the fat and flat, or stagnating periods, typically are associated with either periods of political turmoil/conflict (around the first and second World Wars), periods of extreme valuation (late 1960's, late 1980s (Japan), late 1990s) and periods of economic duress/stagnation (the 1970s).

This topic of market reactions to periods to economic stagnations has been covered in some detail by our economics team⁸. The main conclusions from their work is that long periods of well below trend economic activity are also matched by periods of weaker than average real equity returns. However, long **periods of negative returns are unusual without a valuation component.** This time around, valuation does not appear to be a major constraint for markets.

This importance of valuation in prolonged market stagnations is particularly clear when we compare the outcome in Japan post the bursting of its bubble in the late 1980s, with other periods of sub-par economic activity. Exhibit 72 shows the growth profile of different episodes of stagnation starting from five years prior to the start of the period⁹. The grey areas represent +1/-1 standard deviations away from the average. The Japanese example did follow the average stagnation profile. But while the economic stagnation in Japan was in many respects fairly typical of a number of stagnation episodes in terms of its

Exhibit 70: The UK equity market posted negative returns until the end of WW1 ...



Source: International Financial Data, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.



Exhibit 71: ... and so did the Japanese market after the

Source: International Financial Data, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

8. See Global Economics Weekly: 11/33 ; A Markets View of Stagnations October 19, 2011.

9. The data set includes more than 90 periods of stagnation since 1800, 60% of which were post WWII.

35

Exhibit 72: GDP per capita trends in Europe and US are not yet out of the typical stagnation path



Exhibit 73: Typical path for stocks is lower than average but better than Japan



Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research, Barro-Ursua.

Source: Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research, Barro-Ursua.

duration and average growth experience, the recent equity market experience really has been an outlier, being much worse than the 'typical' stagnation. This can be seen in Exhibit 73 which, shows the evolution of equity returns during a typical stagnation.

Exhibit 73 also shows the area where the paths are more likely and compare the mean and medians to recent experiences across the world. In the case of Japan, the equity market fell sharply for a couple of years before entering its long stagnation, and then traces out the lower edge of the typical path of equity returns during these episodes for quite some time. So while many investors worry that we may be in for many years of a trendless, fat and flat market, there are three important reasons to be more hopeful:

1) The weak growth experiences being felt in many economies in the developed world are not universal and, by and large, are not being felt in many of the large emerging economies. While much of Europe and the US experiences the impact of deleveraging (whether it is of household, banks or government balance sheets), the opposite is true across many of the emerging economies, particularly the BRICs. Of course, this differential is part of the process of unwinding imbalances. Many of the emerging economies that have built up large savings surpluses are moving to increase leverage and generate higher domestic demand as an offset to the higher savings in Europe and the US.

2) Valuation of risky assets into this period of sub-par growth is significantly lower than it was going into other weak periods of activity such as the 1970s, or Japan in the 1990s.

Japan is often used as the most obvious analogue to the current predicament of the developed world, but despite the obvious and tempting similarities (ageing populations, structural rigidities in the economy, high levels of debt and banks going through significant deleveraging), equity valuations are very different.

The Japanese market was trading at around 80x earnings when it peaked, and remained at these kinds of levels for many years after the bubble burst (see Exhibit 74). In the current cycle, most markets were trading at much lower valuations going into the crisis, and have continued to de-rate ever since. Furthermore, the ROE in Japan was low even before the bubble burst in the late 1980s and has been low ever since, compared to the US and Europe (see Exhibit 75).

Exhibit 74: Peak equity valuations were far more stretched in Japan than in the US, Europe 12-month forward P/E, x





Exhibit 75: Compared evolution of Europe and Japan RoE

Source: MSCI, I/B/E/S, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

3) Our global projections show that the next decade is likely to be a peak period for global growth

Our economists argue¹⁰ that so long as actual demand tracks *potential*, fastergrowing BRICs and N-11 will continue to increase their share of global activity. Our projections are for world growth to average around 4.3% in the 2010-19 decade, well above the average of the last decade or the previous one. Beyond that, global growth should slow gradually by decade end as demographics and diminishing returns outweigh the continuing rise in the EM share of overall activity (see Exhibit 76). If future economic growth is, indeed, stronger, then again the lower expectations currently priced into equity markets is likely to prove too pessimistic.



Exhibit 76: A peak decade for potential global growth*

*Calculated using PPP weights

Source: IMF, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

10. See Global Economics Paper No. 208: The BRICs 10 Years On: Halfway through the Great Transformation, December 7, 2011.

Source: Worldscope, Datastream, Goldman Sachs Global ECS Research.

Disclosure Appendix

Reg AC

We, Peter Oppenheimer and Matthieu Walterspiler, hereby certify that all of the views expressed in this report accurately reflect my personal views about the subject company or companies and its or their securities. I also certify that no part of my compensation was, is or will be, directly or indirectly, related to the specific recommendations or views expressed in this report.

Disclosures

Distribution of ratings/investment banking relationships

Goldman Sachs Investment Research global coverage universe

		Rating Distribution		Investn	nent Banking Relation	onships
	Buy	Hold	Sell	Buy	Hold	Sell
Global	30%	55%	15%	47%	42%	34%

As of January 16, 2012, Goldman Sachs Global Investment Research had investment ratings on 3,593 equity securities. Goldman Sachs assigns stocks as Buys and Sells on various regional Investment Lists; stocks not so assigned are deemed Neutral. Such assignments equate to Buy, Hold and Sell for the purposes of the above disclosure required by NASD/NYSE rules. See 'Ratings, Coverage groups and views and related definitions' below.

Disclosures required by United States laws and regulations

See company-specific regulatory disclosures above for any of the following disclosures required as to companies referred to in this report: manager or co-manager in a pending transaction; 1% or other ownership; compensation for certain services; types of client relationships; managed/co-managed public offerings in prior periods; directorships; for equity securities, market making and/or specialist role. Goldman Sachs usually makes a market in fixed income securities of issuers discussed in this report and usually deals as a principal in these securities.

The following are additional required disclosures: **Ownership and material conflicts of interest:** Goldman Sachs policy prohibits its analysts, professionals reporting to analysts and members of their households from owning securities of any company in the analyst's area of coverage. **Analyst compensation:** Analysts are paid in part based on the profitability of Goldman Sachs, which includes investment banking revenues. **Analyst as officer or director:** Goldman Sachs policy prohibits its analysts, persons reporting to analysts or members of their households from serving as an officer, director: Goldman Sachs policy prohibits its analysts, persons reporting to analysts or members of their households from serving as an officer, director, advisory board member or employee of any company in the analyst's area of coverage. **Non-U.S. Analysts** may not be associated persons of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and therefore may not be subject to NASD Rule 2711/NYSE Rules 472 restrictions on communications with subject company, public appearances and trading securities held by the analysts.

Additional disclosures required under the laws and regulations of jurisdictions other than the United States

The following disclosures are those required by the jurisdiction indicated, except to the extent already made above pursuant to United States laws and regulations. Australia: Goldman Sachs Australia Pty Ltd and its affiliates are not authorised deposit-taking institutions (as that term is defined in the Banking Act 1959 (Cth)) in Australia and do not provide banking services, nor carry on a banking business, in Australia. This research, and any access to it, is intended only for "wholesale clients" within the meaning of the Australian Corporations Act, unless otherwise agreed by Goldman Sachs. Brazil: Disclosure information in relation to CVM Instruction 483 is available at http://www.gs.com/worldwide/brazil/area/gir/index.html. Where applicable, the Brazil-registered analyst primarily responsible for the content of this research report, as defined in Article 16 of CVM Instruction 483, is the first author named at the beginning of this report, unless indicated otherwise at the end of the text. Canada: Goldman, Sachs & Co. has approved of, and agreed to take responsibility for, this research in Canada if and to the extent it relates to equity securities of Canadian issuers. Analysts may conduct site visits but are prohibited from accepting payment or reimbursement by the company of travel expenses for such visits. Hong Kong: Further information on the securities of covered companies referred to in this research may be obtained on request from Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C. India: Further information on the subject company or companies referred to in this research may be obtained from Goldman Sachs (India) Securities Private Limited; Japan: See below. Korea: Further information on the subject company or companies referred to in this research may be obtained from Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C., Seoul Branch. New Zealand: Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited and its affiliates are neither "registered banks" nor "deposit takers" (as defined in the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989) in New Zealand. This research, and any access to it, is intended for "wholesale clients" (as defined in the Financial Advisers Act 2008) unless otherwise agreed by Goldman Sachs. Russia: Research reports distributed in the Russian Federation are not advertising as defined in the Russian legislation, but are information and analysis not having product promotion as their main purpose and do not provide appraisal within the meaning of the Russian legislation on appraisal activity. Singapore: Further information on the covered companies referred to in this research may be obtained from Goldman Sachs (Singapore) Pte. (Company Number: 198602165W). Taiwan: This material is for reference only and must not be reprinted without permission. Investors should carefully consider their own investment risk. Investment results are the responsibility of the individual investor. United Kingdom: Persons who would be categorized as retail clients in the United Kingdom, as such term is defined in the rules of the Financial Services Authority, should read this research in conjunction with prior Goldman Sachs research on the covered companies referred to herein and should refer to the risk warnings that have been sent to them by Goldman Sachs International. A copy of these risks warnings, and a glossary of certain financial terms used in this report, are available from Goldman Sachs International on request.

European Union: Disclosure information in relation to Article 4 (1) (d) and Article 6 (2) of the European Commission Directive 2003/126/EC is available at http://www.gs.com/disclosures/europeanpolicy.html which states the European Policy for Managing Conflicts of Interest in Connection with Investment Research.

Japan: Goldman Sachs Japan Co., Ltd. is a Financial Instrument Dealer under the Financial Instrument and Exchange Law, registered with the Kanto Financial Bureau (Registration No. 69), and is a member of Japan Securities Dealers Association (JSDA) and Financial Futures Association of Japan (FFAJ). Sales and purchase of equities are subject to commission pre-determined with clients plus consumption tax. See company-specific disclosures as to any applicable disclosures required by Japanese stock exchanges, the Japanese Securities Dealers Association or the Japanese Securities Finance Company.

Ratings, coverage groups and views and related definitions

Buy (B), Neutral (N), Sell (S) -Analysts recommend stocks as Buys or Sells for inclusion on various regional Investment Lists. Being assigned a Buy or Sell on an Investment List is determined by a stock's return potential relative to its coverage group as described below. Any stock not assigned as a Buy or a Sell on an Investment List is deemed Neutral. Each regional Investment Review Committee manages various regional Investment Lists to a global guideline of 25%-35% of stocks as Buy and 10%-15% of stocks as Sell; however, the distribution of Buys and Sells in any particular coverage group may vary as determined by the regional Investment Review Committee. Regional Conviction Buy and Sell lists represent investment recommendations focused on either the size of the potential return or the likelihood of the realization of the return.

Return potential represents the price differential between the current share price and the price target expected during the time horizon associated with the price target. Price targets are required for all covered stocks. The return potential, price target and associated time horizon are stated in each report adding or reiterating an Investment List membership.

Coverage groups and views: A list of all stocks in each coverage group is available by primary analyst, stock and coverage group at http:// www.gs.com/research/hedge.html. The analyst assigns one of the following coverage views which represents the analyst's investment outlook on the coverage group relative to the group's historical fundamentals and/or valuation. **Attractive (A)**. The investment outlook over the following 12 months is favorable relative to the coverage group's historical fundamentals and/or valuation. **Neutral (N)**. The investment outlook over the following 12 months is neutral relative to the coverage group's historical fundamentals and/or valuation. **Cautious (C)**. The investment outlook over the following 12 months is unfavorable relative to the coverage group's historical fundamentals and/or valuation.

Not Rated (NR). The investment rating and target price have been removed pursuant to Goldman Sachs policy when Goldman Sachs is acting in an advisory capacity in a merger or strategic transaction involving this company and in certain other circumstances. **Rating Suspended (RS).** Goldman Sachs Research has suspended the investment rating and price target for this stock, because there is not a sufficient fundamental basis for determining, or there are legal, regulatory or policy constraints around publishing, an investment rating or target. The previous investment rating and price target, if any, are no longer in effect for this stock and should not be relied upon. **Coverage Suspended (CS).** Goldman Sachs has suspended coverage of this company. **Not Covered (NC).** Goldman Sachs does not cover this company. **Not Available or Not Applicable (NA).** The information is not available for display or is not applicable. **Not Meaningful (NM).** The information is not meaningful and is therefore excluded.

Global product; distributing entities

The Global Investment Research Division of Goldman Sachs produces and distributes research products for clients of Goldman Sachs on a global basis. Analysts based in Goldman Sachs offices around the world produce equity research on industries and companies, and research on macroeconomics, currencies, commodities and portfolio strategy. This research is disseminated in Australia by Goldman Sachs Australia Pty Ltd (ABN 21 006 797 897); in Brazil by Goldman Sachs do Brasil Corretora de Títulos e Valores Mobiliários S.A.; in Canada by Goldman, Sachs & Co. regarding Canadian equities and by Goldman, Sachs & Co. (all other research); in Hong Kong by Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C.; in India by Goldman Sachs (India) Securities Private Ltd.; in Japan by Goldman Sachs Japan Co., Ltd.; in the Republic of Korea by Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C., Seoul Branch; in New Zealand by Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited; in Russia by OOG Goldman Sachs; in Singapore by Goldman Sachs (Singapore) Pte. (Company Number: 198602165W); and in the United States of America by Goldman, Sachs & Co. Goldman Sachs International has approved this research in connection with its distribution in the United Kingdom and European Union.

European Union: Goldman Sachs International, authorized and regulated by the Financial Services Authority, has approved this research in connection with its distribution in the European Union and United Kingdom; Goldman Sachs AG, regulated by the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, may also distribute research in Germany.

General disclosures

This research is for our clients only. Other than disclosures relating to Goldman Sachs, this research is based on current public information that we consider reliable, but we do not represent it is accurate or complete, and it should not be relied on as such. We seek to update our research as appropriate, but various regulations may prevent us from doing so. Other than certain industry reports published on a periodic basis, the large majority of reports are published at irregular intervals as appropriate in the analyst's judgment.

Goldman Sachs conducts a global full-service, integrated investment banking, investment management, and brokerage business. We have investment banking and other business relationships with a substantial percentage of the companies covered by our Global Investment Research Division. Goldman, Sachs & Co., the United States broker dealer, is a member of SIPC (http://www.sipc.org).

Our salespeople, traders, and other professionals may provide oral or written market commentary or trading strategies to our clients and our proprietary trading desks that reflect opinions that are contrary to the opinions expressed in this research. Our asset management area, our proprietary trading desks and investing businesses may make investment decisions that are inconsistent with the recommendations or views expressed in this research.

The analysts named in this report may have from time to time discussed with our clients, including Goldman Sachs salespersons and traders, or may discuss in this report, trading strategies that reference catalysts or events that may have a near-term impact on the market price of the equity securities discussed in this report, which impact may be directionally counter to the analysts' published price target expectations for such stocks. Any such trading strategies are distinct from and do not affect the analysts' fundamental equity rating for such stocks, which rating reflects a stock's return potential relative to its coverage group as described herein.

We and our affiliates, officers, directors, and employees, excluding equity and credit analysts, will from time to time have long or short positions in, act as principal in, and buy or sell, the securities or derivatives, if any, referred to in this research.

This research is not an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any security in any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation would be illegal. It does not constitute a personal recommendation or take into account the particular investment objectives, financial situations, or needs of individual clients. Clients should consider whether any advice or recommendation in this research is suitable for their particular circumstances and, if appropriate, seek professional advice, including tax advice. The price and value of investments referred to in this research and the income from them may fluctuate. Past performance is not a guide to future performance, future returns are not guaranteed, and a loss of original capital may occur. Fluctuations in exchange rates could have adverse effects on the value or price of, or income derived from, certain investments.

Certain transactions, including those involving futures, options, and other derivatives, give rise to substantial risk and are not suitable for all investors. Investors should review current options disclosure documents which are available from Goldman Sachs sales representatives or at http:// www.theocc.com/about/publications/character-risks.jsp. Transaction costs may be significant in option strategies calling for multiple purchase and sales of options such as spreads. Supporting documentation will be supplied upon request.

In producing research reports, members of the Global Investment Research Division of Goldman Sachs Australia may attend site visits and other meetings hosted by the issuers the subject of its research reports. In some instances the costs of such site visits or meetings may be met in part or in whole by the issuers concerned if Goldman Sachs Australia considers it is appropriate and reasonable in the specific circumstances relating to the site visit or meeting.

All research reports are disseminated and available to all clients simultaneously through electronic publication to our internal client websites. Not all research content is redistributed to our clients or available to third-party aggregators, nor is Goldman Sachs responsible for the redistribution of our research by third party aggregators. For all research available on a particular stock, please contact your sales representative or go to http://360.gs.com.

Disclosure information is also available at http://www.gs.com/research/hedge.html or from Research Compliance, 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282.

© 2012 Goldman Sachs.

No part of this material may be (i) copied, photocopied or duplicated in any form by any means or (ii) redistributed without the prior written consent of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Goldman Sachs Global Economics, Commodities and Strategy Research

Americas		Asia (cont'd)
Jan Hatzius~	1(212)902-0394	Japan Portfo
Dominic Wilson~	1(212)902-5924	Hiromi Suzuk
		Tsumugi Akib
US Economics Research		Kazunori Tate
Andrew Tilton~	1(212)357-2619	
Zach Pandl*	1(212)902-3393	Pan-Asia Stra
Alec Phillips*	1(202)637-3746	Sunil Koul#
Jari Stehn*	1(212)357-6224	
Shuyan Wu^	1(212)902-3053	Growth Mar
		Christopher E
Latin America Economics I	Research	Jason Lui*
Alberto Ramos~	1(212)357-5768	
Eduardo Cavallo*	1(212)357-5772	Europe, Midd
Petya Kehayova^	1(212)934-0199	Peter Oppenh
US Portfolio Strategy Rese	arch	European Ec
David Kostin~	1(212)902-6781	Francesco Ga
Stuart Kaiser*	1(212)357-6308	Huw Pill~
Amanda Sneider*	1(212)357-9860	Ahmet Akarli~
Peter Lewis^	1(212)902-9693	Kevin Dalv~
Ben Snider^	1(212)357-1744	Clemens Gra
Den onder	1(212)001-1144	Dirk Schuma
Acia		Andrew Benit
KathyMateuia	81(3)6437 0050	
Timothy Moe~	852-2078-1328	Magdalena P
	052-2970-1520	
	h	(Warsawo
Asia-Pacific Economics Re	search	Natacha valia
	852-2978-1802	Antoine Dem
Goonoon Kwon~	82(2)3788-1775	Michael Hind
Tushar Poddar~	91(22)6616-9042	Adrian Paul ^A
Yu Song*	86(10)6627-3111	
Mark Tan*	65()6889-2472	European Po
Sungsoo Chung#	82(2)3788-1726	Sharon Bell*
Prakriti Shukla#	91(22)6616-9376	Gerald Moser
Shirla Sum#	852-2978-6634	Christian Mue
Yin Zhang [^]	86(10)6627-3112	Anders Niels
	L.	Matthieu Walt
Japan Economics Researc	04/0)6407.0060	0
	01(3)0437-9900 91(3)6437-0094	Loffroy Currio
	01(3)0437-9904	Jelliey Currie
	81(3)0437-9904	Enerav
Australia & New Zealand		Samantha Da
Economics Research		Stefan Wieler
Tim Toohev~	613-9679-1079	Johan Spetz^
Andrew Boak*	612-9321-8576	•
Philip Borkin*	649-362-7306	Non-Energy
David Colosimo*	613-9679-1085	Damien Cour
		Max Layton*
Asia-Pacific Portfolio Strat	egy Research	Roger Yuan#
Helen Zhu~	852-2978-0048	
Kinger Lau*	852-2978-1224	Commodity S
Caesar Maasry*	852-2978-7213	Allison Natha
Hanfeng Wang*	86(10)6627-3318	David Greely-
Ben Bei#	852-2978-1220	
Richard Tang#	852-2978-0722	

86(10)6627-3324

Chenjie Liu^

Hiromi Suzuki*	81(3)6437-995
Tsumuqi Akiba*	81(3)6437-996
Kazunori Tatebe#	81(3)6437-989
Dan Asia Stratagy Darivativas	Baaaarah
Sunil Koul#	852-2978-092
Growth Markata Stratagy F)o co a rab
Christopher Eovang~	65()6889-119
Jason Lui*	852-2978-661
Furone Middle Fast and Afric	a
Peter Oppenheimer~	44(20)7552-578
Furanean Economics Researc	ch
Erancesco Garzarelli~	44(20)7774-507
Huw Pill~	44(20)7774-873
Ahmet Akarli~	44(20)7051-197
	AA(20)7774 E00
Clamana Crafa	7(405)045 440
	7(495)645-419
Dirk Schumacher~	49(69)7532-121
Andrew Benito*	44(20)7051-400
Lasse Holboell Nielsen*	44(20)7774-520
Magdalena Polan*	44(20)7552-524
(Warsaw office)	48-22-449-292
Natacha Valla*	33(1)4212-134
Antoine Demongeot [^]	44(20)7774-116
Michael Hinds^	44(20)7774-113
Adrian Paul^	44(20)7552-574
European Portfolio Strategy B	esearch
Sharon Bell*	44(20)7552-134
Gerald Moser*	44(20)7774-572
Christian Mueller Clisemann*	44(20)7774 171
	44(20)77552 200
Matthiau Walters pilortt	44(20)7552-300
wattinet waiterspher#	44(20)7552-540
Commodities Research	4(040)057.000
Jeffrey Currie~	1(212)357-680
Energy	
Samantha Dart*	44(20)7552-935
Stefan Wieler*	1(212)357-748
Johan Spetz^	1(212)357-922
Non-Energy	
Damien Courvalin*	1(212)902-330
Max Layton*	44(20)7774-110
Roger Yuan#	852()2978-612
Commodity Strategy	
Commodity Strategy Allison Nathan∼	1(212)357-750
Commodity Strategy Allison Nathan~ David Greelv~	1(212)357-750 1(212)902-285

Dominio Wilcon	1/212)002 502
	1(212)902-592
Francesco Garzarelli~	44(20)7774-507
Global Macro Research	
Kamakshya Trivedi*	44(20)7051-400
Jose Ursua#	1(212)855-970
Stacy Carlson [^]	1(212)855-068
Global Credit Strategy Res	earch
Charles Himmelberg~	1(917)343-321
Kenneth Ho*	852-2978-746
Lotfi Karoui*	1(917)343-154
Annie Chu#	1(212)357-552
Anthony Ip#	852()2978-267
Mortgages	
Hui Shan#	1(212)902-444
FX Research	
Robin Brooks~	1(212)357-876
Thomas Stolper~	44(20)7774-518
Themistoklis Fiotakis*	44(20)7552-29(
Fiona Lako*	952 2079 609
	032-2370-000
Fixed Income Research	
Silvia Ardagna*	44(20)7051-058
Constantin Burgi [^]	44(20)7051-400
George Cole^	44(20)7552-37
Macro Equity Research	
Noah Weisberger~	1(212)357-626
Alexander Kazan*	1(917)343-454
Aleksandar Timcenko*	1(212)357-762
Camila Torrente [^]	1(212)357-762
Administration	
Linda Britten*	44(20)7774-116
Editorial/Production	
	44(20)7774 20
Loretta Sunnucks*	44(20)7774-322
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-56
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-567 852()2978-147
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D*	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-567 852()2978-14 1(212)934-967
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-563 852()2978-14 1(212)934-963 1(212)934-63
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14 1(212)934-96 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singanore	44(20)7774-32 44(20)7552-57 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14 1(212)934-96 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-563 852()2978-14 1(212)934-963 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore Hui Ying Chan	44(20)7774-32 44(20)7552-57 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14 1(212)934-96 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 65()6654-54
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore Hui Ying Chan Charles Fang	44(20)7774-32 44(20)7552-57 44(20)7774-56 852()2978-14 1(212)934-96 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 65()6654-54 65()6654-54
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore Hui Ying Chan Charles Fang Jack Yu	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-563 852()2978-14 1(212)934-963 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 65()6654-544 65()6654-544 65()6654-544
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore Hui Ying Chan Charles Fang Jack Yu Salt Lake City	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-563 852()2978-14 1(212)934-963 1(212)934-633 1(212)934-633 1(212)934-633 65()6654-544 65()6654-544
Loretta Sunnucks* Julie Leavy Ling Luong Michael Pan ECS Support Bangalore Mani D* Ketaki Garg Vishal Vaibhaw Singapore Hui Ying Chan Charles Fang Jack Yu Salt Lake City Eric Griego	44(20)7774-322 44(20)7552-574 44(20)7774-563 852()2978-14 1(212)934-963 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 1(212)934-63 65()6654-544 65()6654-544 1(801)884-153

~MD *VP/ED #Associate ^Research Analyst Email: firstname.surname@gs.com

Goldman Sachs Research personnel may be contacted by email at firstname.lastname@gs.com